STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Berkeley County

Honorable Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

DAVID LEON STEPHENS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001168

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

FEB 19 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where the State failed to comply with Petitioner's request under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD), where after Petitioner was transported to South Carolina, the State dismissed the arrest warrant upon which Petitioner sought final disposition, and where the State then indicted him on three different charges before dismissing the arrest warrant, and where plea counsel never moved for dismissal or sought relief on the State's failure to bring Petitioner's case to trial within one hundred and eighty days as required by the IAD?

II. Whether the PCR court erred in granting the State's Motion to Reconsider under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, when the State raised new arguments at the motion hearing, where the State sought to distinguish between different variations of a second degree criminal sexual conduct charge, and where that argument was not made prior to the filing of the motion?

III. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief, where Petitioner's guilty plea was involuntary following his realization that an IAD violation has occurred and where plea counsel's inaction with regard to the IAD violation rendered his entire plea involuntary?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Berkeley County grand jury in May 2013 for two counts of criminal sexual conduct of a minor in the second degree as well as one count of lewd act. App. 214 – 217. On September 17, 2014, he appeared before the Honorable Kristi Harrington to plead guilty as indicted. App. 1. Anne Williams served as the Assistant Solicitor, and Debra Littlejohn represented Petitioner. Petitioner pleaded guilty subject to a negotiated cap of fifteen years with sentences crafted to run concurrently. App. 4 ll. 2 – 10.

Petitioner pleaded guilty, and Judge Harrington accepted his plea. App. 11 ll. 2 – 11; App. 17 ll. 15 – 21. The lewd act charge was dismissed as part of the agreement. App. 15 ll. 18 – 20. Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen years concurrent on the two criminal sexual conduct charges. App. 24 ll. 9 – 19.

On or about March 11, 2015, Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief. App. 26 – 32. It contained allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, including claims that plea counsel did not object or move for compliance with his claim under the Interstate Agreement on Detailers Act (hereinafter “IAD”). The State made its Return on or about March 28, 2016. App. 33 – 37.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Jean H. Toal on September 16, 2016. App. 38. Lance Boozer represent Petitioner, and J. Rutledge Johnson and Jonathan Arndt, a third-year law student, appeared on behalf of the State. The PCR court heard testimony from Petitioner and plea counsel.

After taking the matter under advisement, the PCR court granted post-conviction relief by way of a written order filed November 9, 2017. App 94 – 101. The State filed a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC on or about November 27, 2017.

App. 102 – 111. Counsel for Petitioner filed a Return on or about November 28, 2017. App. 113.

A hearing was held before the Honorable Jean H. Toal on April 4, 2018. App. 115. Lance Boozer again represented Petitioner, and Megan Jameson appeared on behalf of the State. No witnesses were called at the hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, the PCR court granted reconsideration. App. 157 l. 1 – App. App. 161 l. 14. The criminal sexual conduct charge pertaining to intercourse was dismissed under an IAD violation. Id. The lewd act charge remained dismissed as well. Id. Regarding the digital penetration criminal sexual conduct charge, the PCR court indicated it would survive but questioned the plea's voluntariness. Id.

In accordance with the PCR court's instructions, both parties submitted written filings—the State a proposed order granting reconsideration and amending the prior order granting relief and counsel for Petitioner a response to the proposed order—in April 2018. App. 163 – App. 191. A variation of the former, an Order Granting Respondent's Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP and Amending Prior Order Granting Post Conviction Relief was filed on June 15, 2018.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief, where the State failed to comply with Petitioner's request under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD), where after Petitioner was transported to South Carolina, the State dismissed the arrest warrant upon which Petitioner sought final disposition, and where the State then indicted him on three different charges before dismissing the arrest warrant, and where plea counsel never moved for dismissal or sought relief on the State's failure to bring Petitioner's case to trial within one hundred and eighty days as required by the IAD.

A detainer was placed on Petitioner while he was in Pennsylvania on or about February 16, 2011. App. 18 ll. 5 – 11. He made a request for a speedy trial in April 2013. App. 45 ll. 13 – 18. He arrived in South Carolina on September 18, 2013. App. 19 ll. 3 – 12. Plea counsel was appointed in October 2013. App. 44 l. 15 – App. 45 l. 5. The two met approximately five times prior to his plea. App. 47 ll. 9 – 23. Petitioner spoke mostly of the IAD issue in his case during those meetings. *Id.* Counsel's response was always that she would check with someone because she had never had a case involving the IAD before. App. 47 l. 24 – App. 48 l. 15. Petitioner noted that had counsel should have moved, pursuant to the IAD, for dismissal of his charges. App. 49 l. 23 – App. 50 l. 6.

Petitioner requested, under the IAD, that he be tried within 180 days. App. 13 ll. 13 – 21. Upon review of the arrest warrant, the State became aware that the dates were wrong. App. 13 l. 22 – App. 14 l. 8. The warrant which was the subject of the IAD detainer was *nolle prossed*, and the assistant solicitor “directly indicted three counts of CSC second with a minor.” *Id.*

The IAD is an interstate compact by which the States, the District of Columbia, and the federal government have established uniform procedures for the transfer of prisoners serving sentences in one state to another state for the disposition of pending charges. State v. Tucker, 376 S.C. 412, 656 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 2008). Under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD):

Whenever a person has entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of a party state, and whenever during the continuance of the term of imprisonment there is pending in any other party state any untried indictment ... he shall be brought to trial within one hundred eighty days after he shall have caused to be delivered to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court ... written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment.

S.C. Code Ann. 17-11-10.

This Court has recognized that failure to comply with the Act mandates dismissal of the charges with prejudice. State v. Patterson, 273 S.C. 361, 256 S.E.2d 417 (1979), State v. Holbrook, 274 S.C. 4, 260 S.E.2d 181 (1979).

At Petitioner's guilty plea, the State noted Petitioner's request that he be tried within 180 days. App. 13 ll. 13 – 21. After a brief cross-examination by the State during the evidentiary hearing in this matter, Petitioner was asked by the PCR court to explain in his own words, the violation of the IAD. His answer was instructive:

[Plea counsel] didn't try to pursue for me the 180 days, where it said - - in the interstate agreement, if I recall correctly, it said you have 180 days to have this person in court; otherwise, they will be remanded back to the custody of the following state with the charges dismissed, and I kept pushing that issue and none of it seemed to have mattered.

App. 54 l. 1 – App. 55 l. 8. Petitioner repeated that he did not believe plea counsel pursued this issue on his behalf. Id.

Plea counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that Petitioner brought the IAD matter to her attention fairly early on in her representation. App. 56 l. 22 – App. 58 l. 20. Petitioner “wanted [plea counsel] to pursue the IAD” issue following the State’s failure to comply with the Act’s requirements. App. 63 ll. 2 – 14. Counsel admitted that she had never had an IAD case before. Id. Counsel was convinced, however, that there was no violation based on her belief that Petitioner’s complaint under the statute had not been delivered to the Clerk of Court in Berkeley County. Id.

As a result of this belief, Counsel never complied with Petitioner’s request by filing a motion to dismiss the charges, because she believed that although Petitioner had “filled out some of the stuff he needed to fill out... some of it wasn’t done.” App. 59 ll. 11 – 22. Counsel testified that she characterized Petitioner’s request pursuant to the IAD as “null and void as not being properly made.” App. 62 ll. 11 – 15. However, counsel did not recall having a conversation with Petitioner indicating such. App. 62 l. 16 – App. 63 l. 1.

On cross-examination, counsel conceded that the State did not dispute the validity of Petitioner’s request pursuant to the IAD at his guilty plea. App. 65 ll. 1 – 8. Again, counsel admitted that she “did not pursue any sort of motion to have either the charge dismissed or for [Petitioner] to be taken back to Pennsylvania because the case had not been called for trial within that particular time frame as required by the agreement.” App. 65 l. 21 – App. 66 l. 1.

Counsel admitted that had the IAD request been properly filed, pursuant a motion to get the charge dismissed is something that would have benefitted Petitioner. App. 66 ll. 5 – 17. Had she pursued that course of action, she acknowledged the possibility that Petitioner’s charge could have been dismissed. App. 68 ll. 18 – 21.

As was the case with Petitioner, the PCR court questioned plea counsel. App. 67. The PCR court examined the process behind requesting relief under the IAD. App. 67 l. 10 – App. 77 l. 3. During this line of questioning, counsel agreed that it was Petitioner’s responsibility to file with the warden in Pennsylvania a petition for relief. Id. Counsel also agreed that it was the duty of the person who has custody of the detainee to properly forward it to the clerk of court. Id. The PCR court and plea counsel discussed four forms which were made Court’s Exhibit 1. App. 84 – 93.

The PCR court noted that it was rather unfair for the State to *nolle prosequi* the warrant which was the subject of the interstate detainer and then directly indict three charges. App. 75 ll. 1 – 25.

Petitioner did what he was required to do throughout these proceedings. He complied with the IAD and was unable to force the warden to serve the Berkeley County Clerk. As argued by PCR counsel:

Mr. Stephens followed all of the steps necessary to get him down here to South Carolina to deal with this charge, and, in doing so, that kind of triggers some benefits for him because the State then has to abide by certain rules and timelines. I think in this situation Mr. Stephen’s position is he should have been given the opportunity to pursue the - - to try and get the charge dismissed by his lawyer for failing to follow the time line of 180 days, and [plea counsel] admitted that if everything were done properly, and it appears from what we’ve seen that’s been marked as Court’s Exhibit No. 1, everything was done properly by Mr. Stephens. Everyone was on notice he was down here, and that’s why he was here, was pursuant to the agreement.

She felt that it would have been prudent to probably make that motion to at least try and get the charges dismissed. It’s a rare opportunity in a criminal case to have some sort of procedural bar where it just knocks the case ... out of the court system but certainly they could come back and indict later on, but I certainly think he deserves that opportunity to make that argument, and we don’t know what the solicitor’s office would have done had the charge been dismissed pursuant to a motion by [plea counsel], but I think she should have made that motion because without the motion, he remained here in South Carolina.

While he's in South Carolina, she said it was unfair, but they *nolle prossed* it and served him with three more charges that he then had to deal with, so that is the basis of his argument and why he feels he's entitled to post-conviction relief.

App. 78 l. 5 – App. 79 l. 11. He was unable to force plea counsel to file a motion for a speedy trial. Thus, a plain violation of the requirements of the IAD was established. A defendant need not show prejudice before a trial court can dismiss an indictment where the State has violated a prisoner's rights under Article III of IAD. State v. Johnson, 278 S.C. 668, 669, 301 S.E.2d 138, 139 (S.C. 1983).

For an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, the applicant must show that 1) counsel's performance was deficient, and 2) he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). As seen by the State's later concession that the IAD was violated, plea counsel was deficient in failing to recognize this fact and move to prevent re-indictment by the State. The prejudice in Petitioner's case manifested itself in the additional charges which could have been avoided had Petitioner received a final disposition on the charge as provided by the IAD. He would have had grounds to exclude potentially damaging testimony on anything that the State sought to further indict him for.

The IAD provides for expeditious delivery of the prisoner to the receiving State for trial prior to the termination of his sentence in the sending State, and it seeks to minimize the consequent interruption of the prisoner's ongoing prison term. The purpose of the act is to foster the expeditious disposition of charges outstanding against prisoners so as to eliminate the uncertainties which accompany the filing of detainers. State v. Allen, 269 S.C. 233, 237 S.E.2d 64 (1977). The goal of promoting prisoner rehabilitation programs is achieved by requiring the receiving state to dispose of the case within 180 days. State v. Patterson, 273 S.C. 361, 363, 256

S.E.2d 417, 418 (1979). In this case, Petitioner made a request for final disposition of his charge, that both the Pennsylvania correctional institution in Somerset and the solicitor in Berkeley County were aware of this request, and that Petitioner was not tried within 180 days. The IAD was applicable, and both Article III(a) and Article IV(c) were violated when Petitioner's charge was not brought before the court for final disposition within the required time frame.

The PCR court, at a later motions hearing, questioned whether there would be a problem of double jeopardy after the State conceded that the arrest warrant should have been dismissed. App. 126 ll. 13 – 23.

Both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution protect against double jeopardy. The United States Constitution, which is applicable to South Carolina through the Fourteenth Amendment, provides: “[N]or shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb....” U.S. Const. Amend. V. The South Carolina Constitution states: “No person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty....” S.C. Const. Art. I, § 12. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense.” North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 2076, 23 L.Ed.2d 656, 664-65 (1969) (overruled on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S.Ct. 2201, 104 L.Ed.2d 865 (1989)); accord Schiro v. Farley, 510 U.S. 222, 114 S.Ct. 783, 127 L.Ed.2d 47 (1994); Justices of Boston Mun. Ct. v. Lydon, 466 U.S. 294, 104 S.Ct. 1805, 80 L.Ed.2d 311 (1984); United States v. DiFrancesco, 449 U.S. 117, 101 S.Ct. 426, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (1980); Brown v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161, 97 S.Ct. 2221, 53 L.Ed.2d 187 (1977); United States v. Wilson, 420 U.S. 332, 95 S.Ct.

1013, 43 L.Ed.2d 232 (1975); Stevenson v. State, 335 S.C. 193, 198, 516 S.E.2d 434, 436 (1999); McMullin v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue & Taxation, 321 S.C. 475, 478, 469 S.E.2d 600, 602 (1996); State v. Owens, 309 S.C. 402, 405, 424 S.E.2d 473, 475 (1992); see also In re Matthews, 345 S.C. 638, 648, 550 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2001) (“The Double Jeopardy Clause protects against multiple punishments for the same offense.”). Had the arrest warrant been dismissed with prejudice, Petitioner could have argued against future indictments on the same charge.

The fundamental difference between the State’s decision to dismiss the charge then re-indict Petitioner and what would have transpired had plea counsel provided effective assistance counsel is that in the latter scenario, the dismissal would have been with prejudice. The State could not have re-indicted Petitioner on a charge dismissed with prejudice. This distinction serves not only as the deficient performance but also as the prejudice in Petitioner’s case.

II. The PCR court erred in granting the State’s Motion to Reconsider under Rule 59(e), SCRPC, when the State raised new arguments at the motion hearing, where the State sought to distinguish between different variations of a second degree criminal sexual conduct charge, and where that argument was not made prior to the filing of the motion.

The State filed a ten-page Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. App. 102. For the first time, the State attempted to distinguish between digital and penile penetration, arguing that the original warrant under which Petitioner made his IAD request only contained an allegation of penile penetration. Id. The Arrest Warrant, M-333205, was never discussed with any specificity prior to the State’s filing of its 59(e) motion, only generally referenced as “this warrant” and “the outstanding warrant” by the assistant solicitor. App. 4 ll.

11 – 20; App. 12 ll. 2 – 4. The warrant was not made an exhibit at either Petitioner’s guilty plea or evidentiary hearing.

The State argued in its motion that “Applicant did not properly comply with IAD provisions” yet at the hearing on the 59(e) motion, conceded that a violation had occurred. App. 107; App. 118 l. 23 – App. 119 l. 10.

The State sought to distinguish between the original warrant giving rise to the detainer request and the three subsequent indictments, but they were a product of the original warrant. Had the IAD been complied with and the original warrant dismissed, Petitioner may not have been tried on the subsequent charges. As noted by the State in its Rule 59(e) Motion, Arrest Warrant M-333205 was for genital penetration. App. 103. With that charge dismissed, the fact that the minor was allegedly impregnated by Petitioner might not have been admissible in a subsequent trial for digital penetration.

[I]t is proper to view a Rule 59(e) motion not only as a vehicle to request the trial court “alter or amend the judgment,” but also as a vehicle to seek “reconsideration” of issues and arguments. A motion under Rule 59(e) long has been viewed as “motion for reconsideration” despite the absence of those words from the rule. Consequently, a party usually is allowed to ask the court to reconsider its decision even if it means rehashing all or part of an argument previously presented.

Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 21–22, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778–79 (2004) (internal citations omitted). There is nothing inherently unfair in allowing a party one final chance not only to call the court’s attention to a possible misapprehension of an earlier argument, but also to revisit a previously raised argument. It is inherently unfair to disallow such an opportunity. Id.

South Carolina rules contemplate two basic situations in which a party should consider filing a Rule 59(e) motion. A party *may* wish to file such a motion when it believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the

party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party *must* file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review. Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004). In Petitioner's case, the argument offered by the State was newly introduced and did not originate in the State's Return, testimony elicited at the evidentiary hearing, or argument by counsel.

A party cannot for the first time raise an issue by way of a Rule 59(e) motion which could have been raised at trial. E.g., C.A.H. v. L.H., 315 S.C. 389, 434 S.E.2d 268 (1993); Hickman v. Hickman, 301 S.C. 455, 392 S.E.2d 481 (Ct.App.1990).

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