STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
JUL 03 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Berkeley County
Jean H. Toal, Post-Conviction Relief Judge
Kristi L. Harrington, Plea Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-001168

DAVID LEON STEPHENS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁶ Regarding the IAD Act’s requirements, the defendant must have written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition delivered to both the prosecuting officer **and** “the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer’s jurisdiction.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, art. III(a). Significantly, if the defendant fails to comply with those express requirements, the IAD Act’s 180-day deadline will **not** be triggered and will **not** begin to run. See State v. Johnson, 278 S.C. 668, 671, 301 S.E.2d 138, 140 (1983) (“We hold appellant’s letter did not comply with the IAD requirements and thus did not trigger the running of one hundred eighty day period during which a prisoner must be brought to trial under Article III of the IAD.”).

to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer's jurisdiction written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information, or complaint." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, art. III(a). Likewise, "trial shall be commenced within one hundred and twenty days of the arrival of the prisoner in the receiving state" when a defendant is transferred pursuant to a detainer regardless of whether the defendant ever requested final disposition. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, art. IV(c). Ordinarily, if a defendant is not brought to trial within the applicable statutory period, the IAD Act requires the trial judge to dismiss the pending indictment, information, or complaint with prejudice. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, art. V(c).

In the present case, Petitioner did not properly comply with the IAD Act's requirements because he did not properly file or otherwise cause to be delivered a copy of his IAD Act request with the Berkeley County Clerk of Court. Because he did not comply with those express requirements, the IAD Act's 180-day deadline was **not** be triggered and did **not** begin to run. See State v. Johnson, 278 S.C. 668, 671, 301 S.E.2d 138, 140 (1983) ("We hold appellant's letter did not comply with the IAD requirements and thus did not trigger the running of one hundred eighty day period during which a prisoner must be brought to trial under Article III of the IAD."). Therefore, Petitioner's partially filled-out IAD Act request form, dated April 12, 2013, did not trigger the IAD Act's 180-day deadline and is not dispositive in this case.

However, notwithstanding Petitioner's failure to comply with the express requirements of the IAD Act, Petitioner was delivered to South Carolina on September 18, 2013, thereby triggering the 120-day timeline pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, art. IV(c), as to the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge for which Arrest Warrant M-333205 was issued and

for which the State lodged a detainer against Petitioner. Importantly though, regardless of which timeline was applicable and regardless of whether either timeline was violated, any grant of relief based on an IAD Act violation **only** applies to the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge for Petitioner's genital penetration of minor victim based on the information contained in Arrest Warrant M-333205 and **not** the other, unrelated second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge based on Petitioner's digital penetration of minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645). The second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645) is based on conduct separate and apart from the conduct giving rise to the charge upon which Arrest Warrant M-333205—the basis for the detainer lodged against Petitioner—was founded. This indictment was based on information the State gleaned from additional interviews with the minor victim, not any sort of action pertaining to Petitioner's detainer or return to the state. See App. 13 (“The whole argument became moot when I realized after talking to the victim, that the dates were actually wrong based on the original warrant and actually had three counts instead of one.”).

Petitioner was not aware of this additional charge for criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on his digital penetration of the minor victim or that the State was aware of the underlying conduct giving rise to it (digital penetration) until after he was directly indicted for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645) on May 13, 2014, well after he was brought to the state pursuant to the IAD Act (and in fact, after he had completed serving his sentence on the Pennsylvania charges). See App. 84-93 (Court's Exhibit 1 listing Petitioner's parole eligibility as “2/23/13” and maximum expiration of the present sentence as “5/23/14” for the Pennsylvania charge).

Therefore, the IAD Act is inapplicable to these two charges and any violation of the act should not result in the dismissal of the other second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge based on digital penetration based on the express language from the IAD Act:

The temporary custody referred to in this agreement shall be only for the purpose of permitting prosecution on the charge or charges contained in one or more untried indictments, informations or complaints which form the basis of the detainer or detainers or for prosecution on any other charge or charges arising out of the same transaction.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, Art. V(d). The plain reading of Article V(d) makes it clear the IAD Act only applies to the charge or charges subject to the detainer, which in Petitioner's case, is only the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge for Petitioner's genital penetration of minor victim based on the information contained in Arrest Warrant M-333205. See also United States v. Sanders, 669 F.2d 609, 610 (9th Cir. 1982) (holding, without discussion, that where a one-count complaint, upon which the detainer was based, was dismissed for failure to comply with the prescribed time period and a new complaint was filed containing the dismissed count and two new but related counts, the trial court properly dismissed only the original count); Espinoza v. State, 949 S.W.2d 10, 12 (Tex. App. 1997) (noting that "[b]y its terms, [the IAD] limits dismissal to a charge forming the basis of the detainer" and holding that conviction, even though on a related charge, was not on the charge on which the detainer was lodged; Commonwealth v. Boyd, 451 Pa. Super. 404, 679 A.2d 1284, 1287 (1996) (holding that speedy trial provisions of IAD did not apply where charges for which detainer was lodged were "separate and apart" from new charges that were subject of conviction); People v. Greenwald, 704 P.2d 312 (Colo.1985) (holding statute requiring trial within 120 days of defendant's return to state relates only to the charges underlying the detainer by which state secured temporary custody of prisoner incarcerated in another state);

People v. Oiknine, 79 Cal. App. 4th 21, 93 Cal. Rptr. 2d 720 (1999) (holding although a dismissal with prejudice of the five counts from the original complaint satisfied the requirements of the IAD, nothing in the IAD suggests that new charges, which were not specified in the detainer, can or should be dismissed along with the older charges that were listed in the detainer).

After hearing arguments from both parties, the post-conviction relief court properly determined the IAD Act violation only pertained to the Petitioner's guilty plea to second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on genital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0644) and properly denied relief based on the IAD Act claim as to Petitioner's other guilty plea for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645).⁷ This ruling is legally correct and supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

⁷ Petitioner appears to be making an argument that a double jeopardy violation argument could have or should have been made "against future indictments on the same charge." However, this argument was not raised to nor was it ruled upon by the lower court, and therefore, is not preserved for this Court's review. Marlar, 375 S.C. at 410, 653 S.E.2d at 267; Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. at 256, 423 S.E.2d at 128. The failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. Id. Because Petitioner never raised this issue to the lower court nor did the court rule on it, it is unpreserved for appellate review.

Moreover, Petitioner's argument that his indictment for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645) was based on the same conduct is patently false and not supported by the record. This indictment was based on information the State gleaned from additional interviews with the minor victim, not any sort of action pertaining to Petitioner's detainer or return to the state. See App. 13 ("The whole argument became moot when I realized after talking to the victim, that the dates were actually wrong based on the original warrant and actually had three counts instead of one.").

II. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief as to Petitioner's guilty plea to second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645) where Petitioner failed to establish his guilty plea was involuntary.

Petitioner also argues the post-conviction relief court erred in denying relief on his claim that his guilty plea was involuntarily entered based on the IAD Act violation. As previously discussed above, the IAD Act violation only pertained to Petitioner's indictment for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on genital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0644), not his indictment for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645). On appeal, Petitioner asserts he had no other choice than to plead guilty or risk "the threat of maxing him out under consecutive sentences." After reviewing the thoroughly plea colloquy conducted by the plea court, listening to the testimony of Littlejohn and Petitioner, and reviewing the record, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief as to this ground, finding Petitioner's guilty plea to second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645) was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. These findings are not premised on any errors of law and are supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his post-conviction relief action, and when alleging counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct

so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s alleged errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness

claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the post-conviction relief applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 697. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if “in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” Id. at 690.

“A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)). “Indeed, where a thorough colloquy is conducted, courts must exercise caution in setting aside the guilty plea.” Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 12, 813 S.E.2d 704, 712 (2018); see Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 469-71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129-30 (2014) (observing that “guilty plea[s] must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases” and instructing that caution must be exercised so as not to “undermine the solemn nature of a guilty plea and the finality that generally attaches to a guilty plea”).

In the present case, the only two grounds upon which Petitioner claimed his guilty plea was involuntary was that counsel failed to move for dismissal of his charges based on an IAD Act violation and that counsel failed to speak on his behalf during his plea. As addressed thoroughly above, the post-conviction relief court properly found the IAD Act violation did not have any

impact on his indictment for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor based on digital penetration of the minor victim (Indictment No. 2014-GS-08-0645). Accordingly, Petitioner's guilty plea was not rendered involuntarily based on a claim his attorney failed to move for relief upon which he was not entitled and would not have been granted on this particular indictment. As to Petitioner's second claim upon why his guilty plea was involuntary based on counsel's failure to speak on his behalf—which he has not raised in his petition for certiorari—the post-conviction relief court properly found counsel presented appropriate mitigation on his behalf. See App. 20-22.

The record supports the post-conviction relief court's conclusion that Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of establishing his guilty plea was involuntarily entered. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari as to this ground.

CONCLUSION


For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this petition for a writ of certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, Respondent seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.